AGREEMENT BETWEEN CITY OF PALATKA

and the

COASTAL FLORIDA POLICE BENEVOLENT ASSOCIATION

November 14, 2024 through September 30, 2025

Table of Contents
ARTICLE 1 BARGAINING UNIT - DEFINITIONS
ARTICLE 2 THE ASSOCIATION DUES DEDUCTION
ARTICLE 3 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS
ARTICLE 4 EMPLOYEE RIGHTS 5
ARTICLE 5 DISCIPLINARY ACTION 6
ARTICLE 6 ASSOCIATION BUSINESS LEAVE
ARTICLE 7 STABILITY OF AGREEMENT
ARTICLE 8 HOURS OF DUTY AND WORK SCHEDULE9
ARTICLE 9 OVERTIME
ARTICLE 10 WORKING OUT OF CLASSIFICATION
ARTICLE 11 EXCHANGE OF TIME12
ARTICLE 12 WAGES
ARTICLE 13 WORKING OFF DUTY/OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT
ARTICLE 14 GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURES14
ARTICLE 15 SENIORITY
ARTICLE 16 UNIFORM ALLOWANCE AND EQUIPMENT 18
ARTICLE 17 SICK LEAVE
ARTICLE 18 VACATION LEAVE
ARTICLE 19 HOLIDAY LEAVE18
ARTICLE 20 EDUCATIONAL REIMBURSEMENT/RETRAINING Error! Bookmark not defined.
ARTICLE 21 VEHICLES AND CELL PHONES
ARTICLE 22 SAFETY AND HEALTH
ARTICLE 23 MEDICAL COVERAGE
ARTICLE 24 BULLETIN BOARD AND ASSOCIATION BUSINESS21
ARTICLE 25 COUNSELING
ARTICLE 26 VACANCIES - PROMOTIONS
ARTICLE 27 ABOLISHMENT, CONSOLIDATION OR REDUCTION IN WORK FORCE 22
ARTICLE 28 SEVERABILITY CLAUSE
ARTICLE 29 DURATION

ARTICLE 1 BARGAINING UNIT - DEFINITIONS

Section 1. Bargaining Unit.

The City of Palatka (hereinafter "Employer" or "City") recognizes the Coastal Florida Police Benevolent Association (hereinafter "the Association") as the exclusive bargaining representative for the members of the Palatka Police Department listed in PERC certification #2049.

Section 2. Definitions.

Abolishment - Abolishment of the department contemplates replacing and severely limiting traditional policing with other systems of public safety, education and community peacekeeping.

Chief of Police - shall mean the Chief or the appointed Acting Chief.

Consolidation - Consolidation occurs when there is a joint venture between two contiguous law enforcement agencies, in this case, consolidation with the Putnam County Sheriff's Office.

Employee - Except as herein otherwise defined wherever the term "employee" is used in this Agreement, it shall mean all employees within the bargaining unit as heretofore described. After successful completion of field training, probationary employees will have access to the Grievance and Arbitration Procedure to the extent permitted by Article 16, Section 5.

Superior Officers - Wherever the term "Superior Officers" is used in this Agreement, it shall mean a member of the permanent police force of the City of Palatka of the rank of Captain or higher.

ARTICLE 2 THE ASSOCIATION DUES DEDUCTION

During the life of this Agreement, and in accordance with Florida law, specifically Section 447.303, Florida Statutes, the Employer agrees to deduct the Association dues from the pay of each employee in the bargaining unit who authorizes said deduction and shall mail said dues to the address of the Association as certified by the Association to the City.

It is understood that this provision will provide for twenty-six (26) deductions per year for all employees. The Public Employer will remit to the Association such sums within thirty (30) days. Changes in The Association membership dues rate will be certified to the Public Employer in writing and shall be made at least thirty (30) days in advance of the effective date of such change. The Public Employer's remittance will be deemed correct if the Association does not give written notice to the Public Employer within two (2) calendar weeks after a remittance is received, of its belief, with reason(s) stated therefore, that the remittance is incorrect.

The Employer will incur additional costs associated with administering the dues collections in a proper and efficient manner, and in a manner that complies with public record-keeping. The Association shall pay the City ten dollars per month for each employee that is a member of the Association on the first of the month.

The Association will indemnify, defend and hold the Public Employer harmless against any

claim and against any suit instituted against the Public Employer on account of any deduction of The Association dues.

In accordance with Section 447.303, Florida Statutes, an employee may revoke in writing at any time his authorization for dues deduction. Dues revocation shall be processed through the Association, but in the event of direct revocation, the employer will notify the Association within the next pay period. No deduction shall be made from the pay of the employee for any payroll period in which the employee's net earnings for that payroll period, after deductions, are less than the amount of dues to be checked off.

ARTICLE 3 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

Section 1

The Association recognizes the right of the City of Palatka to operate and manage its affairs in all respects in accordance with its responsibilities. The powers and authority which the City has not officially abridged, delegated, or modified by this Agreement are retained by the City. Management officials of the City retain rights, in accordance with applicable laws and regulations, which include but are not limited to the following:

- a. To manage and direct the employees of the City.
- b. To hire, promote, transfer, schedule, assign and retain employees in positions with the City, in accordance with past practice and the terms of this agreement.
- c. To suspend, demote, discharge or take other disciplinary action against employees for just cause.
- d. To relieve employees from duties because of lack of work, funds or other legitimate reasons.
- e. To determine the methods, means and personnel by which such operations are to be conducted, including the right to contract and subcontract existing and future work.
- f. To determine the number of employees to be employed by the City.
- g. To determine the number, types, and grades of positions or employees assigned to an operational unit, department or project.
- h. The organization of City government.
- i. To maintain and improve the efficiency of the operations of the City.
- j. To determine internal security practices.

Section 2

The City has the sole authority to determine the purpose and mission of the City and the 11900339v1

amount of the budget to be adopted by the City Commission.

Section 3

If in the discretion of the City Commission, it is determined that civil emergency conditions exist, including but not limited to riots, civil disorders, hurricane conditions, health pandemic, or similar catastrophes, the provisions of this Agreement may be suspended by the City Manager during the time of the declared emergency, provided that wage rates and monetary fringe benefits shall not be suspended.

Section 4

It is understood by the parties that every incidental duty connected with operations enumerated in job descriptions is not always specifically described and employees at the discretion of the City may be required to perform duties not within their job descriptions, as long as they are Police Department related.

Section 5

The parties agree that, upon the exercise of a management prerogative that requires impact bargaining, in the absence of an emergency declared by the City Commission, upon request of the Association, both parties will immediately be available to negotiate the impact. If the parties are unable to agree, the change will not be implemented until the City has met the minimum requirements for impact bargaining then in existence under the Public Employees Relations Act.

ARTICLE 4 EMPLOYEE RIGHTS

Neither the City nor the Association will interfere with an employee's right to engage in protected, concerted activity nor to refrain from participating in such activity.

Without limiting the foregoing, the City agrees that it will not aid, promote or finance any labor group or organization purporting to engage in collective bargaining, to make any agreement with any such group organization which would violate any rights of the Association under this Agreement or the law. Further, no representative, department official, or agent of the City or the Association shall:

- 1. Interfere with, restrain or coerce employees in the exercise of their right to join or refrain from joining the Association.
- 2. Interfere with the formation, existence, operations, or administration of the Association. Conduct of the Association business will not be on City time except as provided for specifically elsewhere in the Agreement.
- 3. Discriminate in regard to employment or condition of employment in order to encourage or discourage membership in the Association.
- 4. Discriminate against an employee because he has given testimony, taken part in any grievance procedure or other hearings, negotiations, or conference or in behalf of the Association, the City or any employees.

The City will not refuse to meet, negotiate or confirm proper matters with officers or representatives of the Association as set forth in this Agreement.

The City will not discharge or discriminate in any way against employees of the Police Department for the Association membership or the Association activities.

The Association will encourage the bargaining unit members to allow the elected officials of the Association rather than individual members, to represent the Association views and positions to political bodies, news media, and the public.

ARTICLE 5 DISCIPLINARY ACTION

Section 1

No employee of the Police Department as defined in Article 1, Section 2(A) shall be removed, dismissed, discharged, or suspended except for just cause.

Section 2

Any Police Officer required to submit to interrogation by a superior officer, which could result in disciplinary action, shall be allowed the company of an Association official or an attorney as provided by law. This Article does not apply to probationary employees.

Section 3

The "Police Officer's Bill of Rights" as set forth in Florida Statute §112.532, as amended from time to time, is incorporated herein and made a part of this contract.

Section 4

During any investigation covered by the Police Officer's Bill of Rights, the employee will be asked if he wants an attorney and/or representative present. Under this Section, the employee will be entitled to have any one (1) of the following present:

- A. One (1) local representative and a staff representative or,
- B. One (1) local representative and an attorney or,
- C. One (1) staff representative and an attorney.

The investigation will start when the desired attorney/representatives are present provided that if a specific attorney or representative is requested, the request for the specific individual will be granted only if the individual requested is available within a reasonable time. What is a "reasonable time" will depend upon the subject matter being investigated.

A copy of any disciplinary action will be given to the employee being disciplined. The employee will sign the form to acknowledge receipt. A copy will be placed in the employee's file. An employee has the right to prepare a written response to any written reprimand within 10 days of receipt of the reprimand. The response will be placed in the employee's file. The City also agrees to copy employees when any disciplinary document is placed in their personnel file.

Section 6

Employees are entitled to inspect and copy their personnel files and any internal investigation files not confidential by law. Upon request of the employee, the employer agrees to furnish these records and documents to the employee. The employer will supply these documents within 48 hours of the request.

Section 7

When the police department receives anonymous complaints of officer misconduct, the department will attempt to verify that there are reasonable grounds that the misconduct may have occurred before starting an official Internal Affairs investigation.

Section 8

All material that relates to an investigation that is unfounded shall be marked unfounded.

Section 9

The City agrees to purge all files that relate to internal affairs investigations and after all relevant state and federal statutes of limitations have expired, and then shall be purged in accordance with the dates set out by the GS2 records retention schedule published by the state of Florida, to the extent permitted by the Public Records Act.

Section 10

A written reprimand shall be marked "no longer effective" and shall be purged from the personnel file after 24 months if the officer has not committed another offense. After 24 months, the reprimand will remain a public record in a file other than personnel. Suspensions are not affected by this Section and may be used in any subsequent discipline. Written reprimands may only be grieved up through step 3 of the grievance procedure.

Section 11

If termination is involved, the employee may be placed on Administrative Leave with pay pending pre-termination procedures or the outcome of an internal investigation, if it is deemed to be in the best interest of the City. Employees who are placed on Administrative Leave with pay pending pre-termination procedures or the outcome of an internal investigation shall cease to accrue sick and vacation time should the leave exceed one pay period. If the employee is not ultimately terminated, accruals that would have been earned will be posted to the employees sick and vacation accounts.

11900339v1

ARTICLE 6 ASSOCIATION BUSINESS LEAVE

Section 1. Negotiating Committee.

Employees who are members of the Association negotiating committee, not more than two in number, shall suffer no loss of pay or benefits to attend all scheduled meetings with representatives of the Employer for the purpose of negotiating the terms of the contract when such meetings take place at a time during which such members are scheduled to be on duty.

Section 2. The Association Stewards.

The Employees shall select not more than two (2) Association Stewards whose names shall be furnished to the Employer and the Chief. The Association Steward or representative shall be granted reasonable time off if necessary, during working hours without the loss of pay or other benefits, in order to resolve grievances expeditiously. Said time shall be requested of the Chief or his designee, who shall not withhold permission for more than twenty-four (24) hours, except in the case of an emergency.

Section 3. Conventions.

Eligible employees shall be allowed to attend conventions of the FPOA and other police or legal seminars which are deemed by the Chief of Police and the City Manager to be a benefit to the Department.

ARTICLE 7 STABILITY OF AGREEMENT

Section 1

No agreement, understanding, alteration or variation of the Agreement, terms or provisions herein contained shall bind the parties hereto unless made and executed in writing by the parties hereto.

Section 2

The failure of the Employer or the Association to insist, in any one or more incidents, upon performance of any of the terms or conditions of this Agreement shall not be considered as a waiver or relinquishment of the right of the Employer or of the Association to future performance of any such item or condition, and the obligation of the Employer and the Association to such future performance shall continue in full force and effect.

Section 3

All rules, regulations, policies and procedures of the Employer in effect on the effective date of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect if not specifically in conflict with the terms of this Agreement. Authority to change, modify or delete rules, regulations, policy or procedures not in conflict with the terms of this Agreement rests with the Employer.

ARTICLE 8 HOURS OF DUTY AND WORK SCHEDULE

Section 1

Commencing and ending hours of shift will be determined by the Chief of Police. The City hereby elects to establish its workweek under 29 U.S.C. § 270(k) of the Fair Labor Standards Act. The City elects to utilize the fourteen (14) day option under the above-referenced section of the Fair Labor Standards Act.

Section 2

The normal work week will be a scheduled 80 hour bi-weekly work period for administrative personnel and a scheduled 84 hour bi-weekly work period for patrol personnel, inclusive of meal breaks, with the shift personnel being assigned by management. However, the Chief of Police may establish such additional shifts as deemed necessary to provide adequate police protection.

Section 3

The Employer will notify employees in advance of a permanent change in squad assignments. This will not prevent the Employer from making temporary changes due to manpower shortages, FTO training, coverage requirements, emergencies, etc. The Employer makes the decision regarding shift changes for whatever is in the best interest of the City. Shift changes are usually determined during the start of a new pay period, with up to 48 hours advance notice unless there in an emergency that result in manpower shortages.

Section 4

Meal breaks of 30 minutes or less will be paid provided officers do not travel more than 1 mile outside the City limits and are able to promptly respond to calls. During the term of this contract, the current practice of allowing officers to take the police vehicle home for meal breaks will continue; provided that officers live within 1 mile of City limits and must checkout with Dispatch upon leaving their assigned patrol area and must check back in with Dispatch upon returning to their assigned patrol area following a meal break.

Section 5

In the event the City determines that it will be necessary to reduce the number of hours from full-time to part-time worked by City employees in all City departments, the Union will be given notice of that decision and a period of thirty (30) days to negotiate the impact of that decision on bargaining unit employees prior to implementation with a minimum of two (2) meetings held during that thirty (30) day period. This section is not applicable to a reduction in hours of part-time employees. In this regard, the City will first make every effort to maintain hours of work in essential positions before considering hours reductions in all City Departments.

ARTICLE 9 OVERTIME

Section 1

The City elects to operate under a fourteen (14) calendar day work period. The normal pay period will be two consecutive pay weeks. The normal work period for administrative personnel will be eighty (80) scheduled hours during a pay period, exclusive of meal breaks. The normal work period for patrol will be (86) hours during a pay period, inclusive of meal breaks.

Section 2

All work performed in excess of eighty-six hours (86) in any one pay period shall be paid for at the rate of one and one-half $(1 \frac{1}{2})$ times the employee's regular rate of pay pursuant to section 7(k) of the Fair Labor Standards Act. It is the intent of the City that each employee takes a 30-minute meal break each day.

Section 4

Any police officer required to return to work by a Sergeant or a superior officer after having left the station at the completion of his regular shift shall be paid at the time and one-half rate, and they shall receive a minimum of two (2) hours pay.

Section 5

In the event any off-duty bargaining unit member is required to "stand-by" awaiting a call of duty in excess of two (2) hours a day, they shall receive a stipend in the amount of \$46.16 per pay period. Police officers who are required to keep the Department notified of their whereabouts but are not required to remain at a specified location, shall not be compensated for such time.

Section 6

All hours of required attendance at training and out of town travel (more than fifteen (15) miles) to and from training will be treated as time worked for pay purposes. Time spent out of town at training conferences not in actual training (sleeping, eating or other time not actually in class) will not be counted as time worked for pay purposes, provided that if the required attendance is on a regular workday, the employee shall be paid for either the normal number of hours the employee is regularly scheduled to work on that day or the hours in actual training, whichever is greater. Authorized lodging, meals and travel expenses consistent with City policy in effect at the time the travel occurs will also be paid.

If an employee volunteers to attend an out-of-town training conference, and is permitted to attend by the Chief, if the attendance is on the employee's scheduled workday, the employee will be paid for the regular hours he/she would have worked on that day. No other pay for those who volunteer to attend training will be paid.

If an employee is required to attend mandatory training, which is not for certification

purposes and they have not worked the required 86-hours in the pay period as provided in Sections 1 and 2 because they used scheduled vacation time, the employee shall be compensated at a rate of one and one-half $(1\frac{1}{2})$ times the employee's regular hourly pay, if their leave was scheduled and approved more than 30 days prior to the training being scheduled.

Section 7

Time paid for, but not worked, such as sick leave, leave without pay and military leave shall not be counted in determining overtime with the following exception: Vacation time and sick leave (for scheduled medical appointments) that are scheduled at least 30 days in advance shall be counted as hours worked when calculating overtime for a work period.

If an officer is required or volunteers to work hours into a second consecutive shift for the purposes of meeting minimum manning levels as set forth from time to time by the Employer, the officer will be paid at the rate of one and one-half (1½) times the officer's regular rate of pay regardless of whether the employee has worked 86 hours in the pay period.

Section 8

Whenever a bargaining unit employee is given comp time in lieu of being paid overtime for hours worked, the employee will be given one and a half hours of comp time for each hour worked in a manner not to exceed what is currently provided for to all City of Palatka employees and statutory limitations.

ARTICLE 10 WORKING OUT OF CLASSIFICATION

Section 1

Any sworn police officer covered by this Agreement who is required to accept the responsibilities of a Sergeant for six (6) consecutive hours or longer, shall be paid a 5% differential while serving as a Sergeant. The employer shall not split a 12 hour shift between more than one acting sergeant for the purpose of avoiding acting pay. Any sergeant who is required to accept the responsibilities of a lieutenant for six (6) consecutive hours or longer, shall be paid a 5% differential while serving as a lieutenant. The employer shall not split a 12 hour shift between more than one acting lieutenant for the purpose of avoiding acting pay.

Section 2

The senior police officer on the shift when a Sergeant is not available will assume the responsibility of the Sergeant unless a Sergeant or superior officer has appointed an acting Sergeant in his absence regardless of seniority.

The above will not apply if a Sergeant or superior officer is present.

ARTICLE 11 EXCHANGE OF TIME

Each employee in the bargaining unit will be allowed to exchange time or "swap" a shift whenever he is able to secure another employee to work in his place. Said "swap" shall be governed as follows:

- 1. Such "swaps" or exchanges are made only after prior approval of their respective captain.
- 2. Such substitution occurs within the same payroll period and does not impose additional cost on the City with regard to the payment of salaries and wages in the form of overtime or otherwise.
- 3. The officer in charge of the shift in which the substitution takes place be notified one day prior to its becoming effective, except in the case of an emergency, the notification may be made on a shorter term.
- 4. Approval of swaps will normally be made if the "swap" is for a justifiable reason. The Chief will have the authority to deny swaps if, in his opinion, (a) the privilege is being abused; or (b) either officer involved in the swap is not meeting expected performance standards.
- 5. Swaps for more than 5 days may be allowed if applied for 14 days in advance and approved by the employees' respective lieutenant.
- 6. Repayment of swap time is solely the responsibility of the employees involved in the swap. The City will incur no additional responsibility of any type as a result of permitting a swap.

ARTICLE 12 WAGES

Section 1

The City's "Steps in Grade Pay Plan" Policy is incorporated herein in full, together with any subsequent modifications therein.

Section 2

At the expiration of this agreement on September 30, 2025 and thereafter, there will be no continuation of any increases provided under this Article, unless a new contract is ratified by both parties on or before October 1, 2025, or unless the parties mutually agree in reopener negotiations to extend the contract beyond October 1, 2025. If the contract is not renewed, increases shall default to the City's "Steps in Grade Pay Plan" as set forth in Section 1 above.

In addition to their other pay, bargaining unit members, assigned as Field Training Officers (FTO), will receive a stipend of \$46.16 per pay period for each shift that they work with a trainee. Officers shall be assigned FTO responsibilities at the discretion of the Chief.

Section 4

In addition to their other pay, bargaining unit members, working as a certified Instructor will receive a stipend of \$46.16 per pay period that they work as certified Instructor. Bargaining unit members shall be assigned Instructor responsibilities at the discretion of the Chief.

Section 5

Bargaining unit members assigned to K9 handler status shall receive 1 hour per day at the minimum wage per the Federal Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA). K-9 handlers will additionally receive a stipend of fifty dollars per pay period (\$50) to cover the cost of caring for the dog during off-duty hours.

Section 6

Officers who remain in the Investigation Unit for 12-months or more shall receive a stipend in the amount of \$46.16 per pay period. The stipend shall cease upon leaving the Investigation Unit. Assignment of detectives to shifts will be made by the Police Chief to ensure adequate manpower coverage. However, no officer shall be removed from the unit during the initial 12-month period solely to avoid maintaining the higher pay incentive.

Section 7

Any cost-of-living adjustments provided to other city employees will also be paid to bargaining unit members.

ARTICLE 13 WORKING OFF DUTY/OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT

Section 1

Any City of Palatka employee who has a secondary job with another employer and/or is self-employed doing odd-jobs for pay, must understand that their City job will be their first responsibility and shall not be neglected at the expense of any secondary or off-job activity. Public safety employees will need written permission from their department head.

Section 2

It should be further understood that no facilities or property of the City are to be utilized by an

employee while engaged in secondary employment, unless specifically approved by the City Manager.

Section 3

Employees will not solicit outside business during their normal City working hours.

Section 4

Employees engaged in secondary employment must comply with all licensing requirements to do such work.

Section 5

The City cannot continue to employ a person when secondary employment in the judgment of their supervisor is interfering with their ability to perform their work in a normal manner, nor can the City continue to employ a person whose secondary employment reflects unfavorably on the City, at the sole judgment of the City Manager.

Section 6

Any employee who has a secondary job with another employer shall disclose the name, address and telephone number of the secondary employer. Any employee who has a secondary job and is self-employed shall disclose the name, address and telephone number under which they are self-employed.

ARTICLE 14 GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURES

Section 1. Matters Covered.

A grievance is described as a dispute over the application, interpretation or alleged violation of this Agreement. An earnest effort shall be made to adjust such grievance immediately as outlined in this Article.

Any non-monetary incident which occurred or failed to occur prior to the effective date of this Agreement shall not be the subject of any such grievance or arbitration.

Section 2. Steps in Grievance Procedure.

<u>Grievances</u> The parties agree to attempt to resolve non-disciplinary issues and disputes informally prior to filing a grievance. If the parties are unable to resolve the issue or the issue does not lend itself to informal resolution, a formal grievance may be filed.

<u>Step 1</u>: The employee or the union may submit the grievance or dispute to the employee's Captain within ten (10) business days. In grievances involving disciplinary actions, the grievance

must be submitted to the employee's Captain within ten (10) business days of the disciplinary action being taken. In grievances not involving disciplinary actions, the grievance must be submitted to the employee's Captain within ten (10) business days from the date the employee could reasonably be expected to have knowledge of the facts constituting the grievance. The Captain shall respond to the union official (employee) who filed the grievance within ten (10) business days. Failure to file a grievance within the time required shall render the grievance null and void.

Step 2: If the grievance has not been satisfactorily resolved, the employee or the Union may present said grievance, which must be in written form, to the Chief or his designee within ten (10) business days after the response under Step 1 is received or due. The grievance must cite the appropriate Agreement Article which is allegedly being violated. The Chief of Police or his designee shall respond in writing to the Union official (employee) who filed the grievance within ten (10) business days.

Step 3: If the grievance still remains unadjusted, it shall be presented to the City Manager or his designee, in writing, within ten (10) business days after the response to the Chief is due. The City Manager shall respond in writing within ten (10) business days.

Step 4: If the decision of the City Manager or his designee is not acceptable to the employee or the Union, the Union may, by written notice to the City Manager within ten (10) business days of receipt of the answer at Step 3, request binding arbitration.

Section 3

The term "business days" as used in this Article will be days that City Hall is open for business. Any time limits set forth in this Article may be extended by mutual consent.

Section 4

Hours/time spent by a grievant with Union representatives preparing and/or pursuing his or her grievance, up to and including arbitration shall not be considered hours worked. The employee may elect to use vacation time for this purpose. Hours spent by a grievant in meetings with the City during steps of the contractual grievance procedure other than arbitration shall be considered hours worked.

Section 5

Grievances involving discipline may proceed immediately to Step 2. Grievances of written or verbal reprimands may not proceed beyond step 3 of the grievance procedure.

Section 6

The arbitration proceedings shall be conducted by an arbitrator after an arbitration request has been submitted. If the parties fail to select an arbitrator, the Federal Mediation and

Conciliation Service shall be requested by either or both parties to provide a panel of five (5) arbitrators. The Union shall have the right to strike the first name; the City shall then strike one name. The process shall be repeated, and the remaining person shall be the Arbitrator.

The Arbitrator hereunder shall be without power to alter, amend, add to, or detract from the language of this Agreement. The decision of the Arbitrator shall be final and binding upon the parties. The Arbitrator shall submit in writing his findings of fact and decision within thirty (30) days after the conclusion of testimony and argument or as soon as practical thereafter.

The expense of the Arbitrator's services and the proceedings shall be split evenly between the parties. If either party desires a verbatim record of the proceedings, it may cause such a record to be made, providing it pays for the record and provides a copy without charge to the Arbitrator, if requested. If both parties request or obtain a copy of the transcript, the cost of the transcript will be split by the parties.

For purposes of the arbitration hearing the following standards for the payment of witnesses shall apply:

- 1. The grievant shall not be paid for time spent at the hearing, but may use vacation time:
- 2. Any witnesses subpoenaed by either the Union or the City who are scheduled for duty during the arbitration hearing shall be paid their normal hourly rate for time spent at the arbitration hearing;
- 3. Any witnesses subpoenaed by either the Union or the City who are not scheduled for duty during the arbitration hearing shall be paid their normal hourly rate for time spent at the arbitration hearing if: (1) they are called to testify and (2) the arbitrator determines that his or her testimony is material to the case. No shift swaps will be permitted for those individuals subpoenaed for an arbitration hearing. No grievant or witness may drive a City vehicle to the arbitration hearing.

Section 7

Probationary employees are not entitled to grieve or arbitrate any issues relating to discipline or discharge. Promotional probationary employees may not grieve being returned to their prior rank during their promotional probationary period. Promotional probation may exceed 6 months.

Section 8

- 1. Any employee who has been served a disciplinary suspension may:
 - (a) Sign a waiver stating that they are not going to pursue any of their grievance rights.

The employee will then serve their suspension as assigned OR

(b) Grieve or decline to sign the waiver noted above in which case the suspension will not be served until such time that the time frames to grieve have expired through arbitration.

2. A disciplinary suspension maybe with loss of pay, reduction in pay or loss of vacation time depending on the staffing needs of the Department and at the discretion of the Chief.

Section 9

In the event it is determined by The City or an arbitrator that an employee covered under this agreement has not been appropriately compensated pursuant to the terms of this agreement, the City shall only be liable for back pay for a period of three (3) calendar years from the date the City discovers the alleged error, or the employee notifies the City in writing of the alleged error.

ARTICLE 15 SENIORITY

Section 1

Regarding promotions, transfers, increases or decreases in the working force, seniority of an employee shall be determined by this Agreement.

Section 2

Seniority in the Palatka Police Department shall commence from the date of appointment as a regular full-time member of the Palatka Police Department. Officers entering on the same day shall have their seniority determined by their oral interview score with the highest score being most senior. Sergeants and Lieutenants appointed on the same day shall have their seniority determined by total length of service.

Section 3

Seniority shall not be broken by military leave, vacation time, sick time, injury leave, temporary layoff not in excess of one year, or leave of absence as defined in this Agreement.

Section 4

Seniority shall be broken by resignation or termination for just cause.

Section 5

In the event of a reduction in force, layoff or abolition of position, layoff shall be in inverse order of hiring and recall by seniority within classification.

Section 6

When a permanent opening occurs within any shift, day or nights, the senior police officer within the rank who requests the same shift may be assigned to said shift. If a shift vacancy occurs

as set out above, it will be posted in a conspicuous place for at least three (3) days prior to said shift vacancy being filled. Assignment by seniority to shift shall not mean to a particular position of said shift. Shift assignments may be changed with the approval of the Chief. The Chief may also change shift assignments for legitimate agency needs.

Section 7

When a permanent opening occurs within any specialist position, including that of an investigator, any person wishing to may apply in writing to the Chief of Police for consideration for such position. The final decision with respect to the filling of such position shall be that of the Chief of Police after evaluation of the qualification of all applicants for such position. However, seniority shall be a factor in his consideration. Such openings shall be posted as set forth in Section 6 above.

Section 8

Seniority will not be observed when the conditions described in the "Working Out of Classification" exist.

ARTICLE 16 UNIFORM ALLOWANCE AND EQUIPMENT

The current city policy and practice concerning uniforms equipment and the replacement of damaged personal property or city property shall remain in place.

ARTICLE 17 SICK LEAVE

Section 1.

The City's current sick leave policy and practice shall remain in effect, except that after ten years of service with the city, any employee who retires or resigns, with a two-week notice, shall be paid out for one quarter (1/4) of their accumulated sick leave. Terminated employees shall not be entitled to any sick leave pay out.

ARTICLE 18 VACATION LEAVE

Section 1. Vacation Leave

The City's current Vacation Leave policy shall remain in effect.

ARTICLE 19 HOLIDAY LEAVE

The City's current Holiday Leave policy shall remain in effect. The City observed holidays are:

New Year's Day
Martin Luther King's Birthday (3rd Monday in January)
Good Friday
Memorial Day
Juneteenth
Independence Day
Labor Day
Veterans Day
Thanksgiving Day
Day after Thanksgiving
Christmas Eve Day
Christmas Day
Personal Holiday
Safety Bonus/Holiday

ARTICLE 21 VEHICLES AND CELL PHONES

Section 1

All bargaining unit members that have completed their FTO training will, whenever possible, be assigned a city vehicle as a take home car. Employees may drive their city vehicle to and from work and they may make distinct deviations for nonessential personal errands. The city shall provide insurance to insure both the city and the employee as provided for by Florida Statute 627.7491.

Section 2

In order to use a vehicle as a take home car the employee must live within 30 "air' miles of the Palatka city limit.

Section 3

The current policy shall remain in place providing for window tinting for administrative personnel, detectives, supervisors and K-9 vehicles.

All bargaining unit members shall receive an agency issued phone for the service of telephonic communication. Supervisory positions are entitled to the issuance of smart phones. The cell phone and the contents of the phone remain the property of the City.

ARTICLE 22 SAFETY AND HEALTH

Section 1

It is the responsibility of the City to provide safe and sanitary working conditions in all present and future installations and to develop a safe working force. The Association will cooperate with and assist management to this end.

Section 2

The City and The Association insist on the observation of safe rules and safe procedures by employees and supervisors and insist on the correction of unsafe conditions. Failure of employees to comply may result in a disciplinary action.

Section 3

If an employee believes he/she is being required to work under unsafe conditions, the employee shall (1) notify his/her immediate supervisor who will immediately investigate the condition and take corrective action if necessary; (2) the Association Steward may immediately notify the Chief; (3) file a grievance if no corrective action is taken within the period stated in Article 16.

Section 4

Employees who work at jobs or in areas deemed by the City Manager or their designee to be dangerous shall be required to wear safety devices and/or equipment as designated by that office as necessary for their protection. Such devices and equipment will be provided by the City. When such equipment has been prescribed by the City Manager or their designee, it shall be furnished by the City at no cost to the employee. Failure or refusal of an employee to wear safety devices and use safety equipment shall be grounds for disciplinary action.

Section 5

The current city policy concerning a drug free workplace shall remain in effect.

ARTICLE 23 MEDICAL COVERAGE

<u>Section 1</u> The City shall continue to provide medical coverage to all bargaining unit members under the same terms and conditions as they currently provide, except as altered by this agreement.

ARTICLE 24 BULLETIN BOARD AND ASSOCIATION BUSINESS

Section 1

The Association shall have the use of up to one-half the area of the bulletin boards located in the Ready Room or Classroom area for posting notices, which shall not be of a political or controversial nature.

All notices shall be signed by an officer of the Association.

Copies of all notices shall be submitted to the City Manager or his designee prior to their being posted. If the City Manager feels that the notice is of a controversial nature, the Association agrees to rewrite it in such a way that it would not be of a controversial nature.

Any material found on The Association bulletin board space not on file with the Employer or not signed by an officer of the Association may be removed by the Employer.

Materials posted on The Association bulletin board must be dated and may be removed after thirty (30) days unless otherwise agreed upon.

Section 2

The City hereby agrees that the Association will have the right to use the Training Room at the Palatka Police Department for the purpose of the Association meetings. The room must be scheduled in advance with the Chief of Police, and its use by the Association will be limited by other needs.

ARTICLE 25 COUNSELING

Section 1

Whenever any Palatka police officer is directly involved in a shooting incident (i.e., the officer is doing the shooting or being shot at), the officer will be placed on "paid administrative leave" by the Chief of Police. The length of the leave shall be at the discretion of the Chief.

Section 2

If deemed necessary by the Chief of Police, the City will make available to the officer the services of a psychologist or qualified counselor approved by the City for the purpose of helping the officer deal with the "aftermath" of the incident. This service will be paid for by the City.

If, in the opinion of the psychologist or counselor, the officer is unable to return to full active duty, the officer may be placed on light or administrative duty until such time as the psychologist or counselor certifies that the officer is ready to return to full active duty.

ARTICLE 26 VACANCIES - PROMOTIONS

Section 1

When a budgeted vacancy occurs in any position covered by this Agreement, such vacancy shall be filled without undue reasonable delay.

All vacancies shall be filled in accordance with City Personnel Regulations. Preference shall be given to "acting" positions.

For the purposes of this Article, "undue unreasonable delay" will mean not more than six (6) months.

ARTICLE 27 ABOLISHMENT, CONSOLIDATION OR REDUCTION IN WORK FORCE

In the event of a City reduction in work force of 50% or more, consolidation or abolishment of the department, the City and The Association will meet as soon as possible to discuss severance pay, which shall not exceed four (4) weeks. Consolidation occurs when there is a joint venture between two contiguous law enforcement agencies, in this case, consolidation with the Putnam County Sheriff's Office. Abolishment of the department contemplates replacing and severely limiting traditional policing with other systems of public safety, education and community peacekeeping.

ARTICLE 28 SEVERABILITY CLAUSE

Should any part of this Agreement or any portion therein contained be rendered or declared illegal, legally invalid or unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, or by the decision of any authorized governmental agency, such invalidation of such part or portion of this Agreement shall not invalidate the remaining portions thereof. In the event of such occurrence, the parties agree to meet within twenty (20) days and if possible, to negotiate substitute provisions for such parts or portions rendered or declared illegal or invalid. The remaining parts and provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

ARTICLE 29 DURATION

Section 1

This Agreement will be in full force and effect from the date ratified by both parties until September 30, 2025.

CITY OF PALATKA

Roberta M. Correa, Mayor

ATTEST:

Sunni Krantz, CMC

POLICE BENEVOLENT ASSOCIATION

Signature

Greg Forhan

Printed Name

Representative and General Counsel

Title

RESOLUTION NO. 2024-R-241

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF PALATKA, FLORIDA, AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A UNION AGREEMENT WITH THE POLICE BENEVOLENT ASSOCIATION; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE; AND PROVIDING FOR SCRIVENER'S ERRORS

WHEREAS, the City of Palatka and the Police Benevolent Association ("PBA") have negotiated in good faith to establish a union agreement that supports the interests of the City, its law enforcement officers, and the community; and

WHEREAS, the City Commission of the City of Palatka has reviewed the terms of the union agreement, which covers the period from November 14, 2024, through September 30, 2025; and

WHEREAS, the City Commission finds that the approval of this agreement serves the best interests of the City and its law enforcement personnel;

NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Commission of the City of Palatka, Florida, as follows:

SECTION 1 The City Commission hereby authorizes the Mayor to execute, and the City Clerk to attest, the union agreement between the City of Palatka and the Police Benevolent Association, covering the period from November 14, 2024, through September 30, 2025. SECTION 2 The terms and conditions of this agreement shall take effect as stipulated therein, fostering a mutually beneficial relationship between the City and the PBA. SECTION 3 This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption.

SECTION 4 The City Manager or designee, without public hearing, is authorized to correct any typographical scrivener's errors, which do not affect the intent of this Resolution. A corrected copy shall be posted in the public record by the City Clerk.

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Commission of the City of Palatka, Florida this 14th day of November 2024.

CITY OF PALATKA

Its Mayor

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY:

City Attorney